
LABOR LAW
In former survey years, the most significant Fifth Circuit deci-

sions were concentrated under the National Labor Relations Act
(NLRA) and the Labor Management Relations Act (LMRA). Al-
though a number of cases involving these two Acts were decided by
the Fifth Circuit during this survey period, the majority of these
cases merely reaffirmed earlier precedent.I The circuit did, however,
clarify the duty of employers to bargain with unions and the liability
of unions for breach of bargaining agreements under the LMRA.

The major Fifth Circuit opinions during this survey period con-
cerned the Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA). 2 The re-
cent emergence of OSHA provided the court with the opportunity
to analyze several constitutional issues with regard to the Act's
enforcement system. Additionally, the controversy over the scope of
the employer's duty to comply with OSHA safety provisions permit-

1. In NLRB v. F. Strauss and Son, Inc., 536 F.2d 60 (5th Cir. July, 1976), the Fifth
Circuit enforced a Board finding that an employer violated section 8(a)(5) of the LMRA, in
his attempt to test the union's majority status by insisting that any collective bargaining
contract be limited to the nine days remaining in the union's certification year. Although the
employer submitted evidence that a majority of employees had repudiated union representa-
tion by petitioning the Board, the Fifth Circuit, noting that the Board refused to regard the
employee petition as a request for union decertification, held that the employer failed to prove
the necessary "unusual circumstances" justifying his demand for a limited term contract.
Enforcing a Board bargaining order in Thrift Drug v. NLRB, 521 F.2d 243 (5th Cir. Oct.,
1975), the Fifth Circuit rejected the employer's claim that the union's pre-election offer to
waiver all employees' initiation fees and assessments disrupted the election on the grounds
that the union's offer was unconditional and that there was no proof of other circumstances
of improper union conduct. Holding that in the absence of a posted rule against distribution
of literature in working areas, an employer's seizure of union literature distributed in unat-
tended work areas prior to the beginning of working hours was not an attempt to protect the
employer's legitimate property interests but to discourage union activity, the Fifth Circuit
upheld a Board finding that the employer violated section 8(a)(1) in F. W. Woolworth Co. v.
NLRB, 530 F.2d 1245 (5th Cir. April, 1976). In Florida Steel Corp. v. NLRB, 529 F.2d 1225
(5th Cir. April, 1976), the Fifth Circuit agreed with the Board that an employer's no-
solicitation rule prohibiting employee organizing activities "on the Company's time" was
overly broad and vague and therefore a section 8(a)(1) violation in that employees could
interpret the solicitation ban as applying to non-working periods during the time the em-
ployee was clocked in. Rejecting an employer's objections to union certification and enforcing
a Board bargaining order the Fifth Circuit in NLRB v. Sumpter Plywood Corp., 535 F.2d 917
(5th Cir. July, 1976), held that a union's racially oriented pre-election appeals directed at
the majority black employees was not impermissable election conduct where it was not
established that the union's ethnic consciousness raising was inflammatory or the core of the
election campaign.

2. 29 U.S.C. §§ 651-78 (1970).
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ted the Fifth Circuit to assume an active role in shaping OSHA for
both circuit and national application.

I. The Labor Management Relations Act

The Labor Management Relations Act (LMRA)3 regulates the
relationships that exist between employers and labor unions and
between both of these groups and the employees.4 The Fifth Circuit
decided two important cases in this survey period under the LMRA.
In the first case, NLRB v. Amoco Chemicals Corp.,5 the court con-
sidered the scope of the employer's duty to bargain with regard to
"other terms and conditions of employment." The second case de-
cided by the Fifth Circuit, United States Steel Corp. v. United Mine
Workers of America,' concerned the standard of union liability for
breach of an "implied" no strike clause in a collective bargaining
agreement.

A. The Employer's Duty to Bargain

The right of employees to organize and join a labor union for
the purpose of bargaining collectively with their employer, or to
refrain from these activities, is recognized in the Labor Manage-
ment Relations Act.7 Once a collective bargaining unit is estab-
lished, section 8(a)(5) requires the employer to bargain with the
unit's representative.' The employer is not, however, required to
negotiate with the union concerning all topics; section 8(d) sets
forth those topics that are mandatory bargaining subjects: wages,

3. 29 U.S.C. §§ 141-187 (1970).
4. 29 U.S.C. §§ 157, 158(a)(b) (1970).
5. 529 F.2d 427 (5th Cir. Mar., 1976).
6. 519 F.2d 1249 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975).
7. 29 U.S.C. § 157 (1970).
8. 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(5) (1970). After the bargaining unit is established, the employer

may refuse to bargain with the union if he has a good faith doubt of the union's majority
status. Both the NLRB and this circuit have recognized the high percentage of employee
turnover in the West Texas drilling industry. Hondo Drilling Co., 164 NLRB 416 (1967), aff'd,
NLRB v. Hondo Drilling Co., 428 F.2d 943 (5th Cir. 1970). Because excessive turnover is
inherent in this industry, turnover alone is insufficient to sustain an employer's good faith
claim that a majority of the employees no longer support union representation. An employer
may not legally refuse to bargain by withdrawing union recognition without additional proof
indicating his good faith doubt of union majority status. NLRB v. Leatherwood Drilling co.
and Brahaney Drilling Co., 513 F.2d 270 (5th Cir. 1975), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 1016 (1975)
(employee turnover of 900 per cent); NLRB v. Hondo Drilling Co., 525 F.2d 864 (5th Cir. Jan.,
1976), cert. denied, - U.S. - (Oct. 5, 1976) (employee turnover 1700 percent); NLRB
v. A.W. Thompson, Inc., 525 F.2d 870 (5th Cir. Jan., 1976), cert. denied, - U.S. - (Oct.
5, 1976) (employee turnover 400 percent).
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hours, and other terms and conditions of employment.' An em-
ployer's refusal to bargain concerning a mandatory subject inter-
feres with employee collective bargaining rights and thereby consti-
tutes an unfair labor practice under section 8(a)(5), regardless of the
employer's subjective intent. 0

Management's authority to alter existing plant disciplinary
rules without first bargaining with the union was considered by the
Fifth Circuit in NLRB v. Amoco Chemicals Corp." Shortly after a
successful union election, the employer unilaterally resumed strict
enforcement of an employee disciplinary system seldomly enforced
prior to the election. Although the Fifth Circuit had previously ruled
that company procedures for the enforcement of internal safety reg-
ulations were subjects of mandatory bargaining," it had not exam-
ined management's authority to unilaterally revive a formalized
disciplinary system.

The promulgation or alteration of plant rules has principally
been viewed as a subject relating to working conditions and terms
of employment-hence a mandatory bargaining subject under sec-
tion 8(d). 13 Two exceptions to this general bargaining duty have
been recognized. First, management has no duty to bargain if the
change in plant rules has only a negligible impact on the employees
or their working conditions.'" Second, plant rules existing and en-
forced at the time the union is recognized may be implemented by
management without first bargaining with the union." If the unilat-
erally implemented plant rules are more stringent" or formalized' 7

9. 29 U.S.C. § 158(d) (1970).
10. NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 736 (1962).
11. 529 F.2d 427 (5th Cir. Mar., 1976).
12. NLRB v. Gulf Power Co., 384 F.2d 822 (5th Cir. 1967).
13. R. GORMAN, BASIC TEXT ON LABOR LAW: UNIONIZATION AND COLLECTIVE BARGAINING,

at 503 (1st ed. 1976).
14. Pacific Diesel Parts Co., 203 NLRB 820, 824 (1973). The unilateral discontinuance

of a practice allowing nonemployees to join employees for lunch was not considered to be a
section 8(a)(5) refusal to bargain because there was no real impact on the employees or their
working conditions.

15. R. GORMAN, BASIc TEXT ON LABOR LAW: UNIONIZATION AND CoLLEcTIvE BARGAINING,
at 503 (1st ed. 1976); NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 736, 746-47 (1962).

16. General Electric Co., 77 L.R.R.M. 1561, 1563-64 (1971). Although a unilaterally
promulgated "code of conduct" was based upon a similar preceding code to which the union
had not objected, the employer was guilty of failure to bargain with the union over a manda-
tory subject. The new code was considered to be a mandatory subject because its terms were
harsher than those of its predecessor.

17. Murphy Diesel Co. v. NLRB, 454 F.2d 303, 307 (7th Cir. 1971). The correction of
past laxities in disciplinary enforcement through the implementation of more formalized
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than existing rules, however, the rules will be considered mandatory
bargaining subjects because of their impact on employee working
conditions.8

The court in Amoco Chemicals determined that Amoco's re-
vival of the written reprimand system after years of only sporadic
use significantly changed the conditions of employment. 9 The court
held, therefore, that section 8(d) required Amoco to consult with the
union before it could resume enforcement of the earlier disciplinary
practice. 20 In so holding, the court impliedly rejected the dissenting
opinion of Board Member Kennedy that Amoco's reprimands were
not a structured disciplinary system and thus a subject of manage-
ment prerogative. The stringency of the revived disciplinary mea-
sures was of particular importance in the court's rejection of Ken-
nedy's management prerogative argument. In sharp contrast with
the prior procedure of informal oral warnings, the revived discipli-
nary measures required a copy of each issued reprimand to be per-
manently included in the employee's personnel file. Because the
innovated discipline enforcement procedure had possible affects on
employee job security, the court felt that the new reprimand system
constituted a significant change in working conditions. Implemen-
tation of the new reprimand system consequently was not properly
within the scope of management prerogative.

Both the Seventh2l and Ninth22 Circuits are in accord with the
Fifth Circuit's holding in Amoco Chemicals. A formal innovation in
plant rule enforcement-even for the purpose of clarifying earlier
practice-will be viewed as a substantial change in employment
rather than a mere procedural codification of existing rules.2" Appar-
ently, for an employer to escape the mandatory duty to bargain with

absenteeism and tardiness rules constituted a substantial rather than merely procedural
change in the conditions of employment thereby requiring preliminary bargaining.

18. Id.
19. 529 F.2d 427, 431 (5th Cir. Mar., 1976).
20. Although the Board refused to find that Amoco's failure to confer with the union

was motivated by anti-union sentiment, the Fifth Circuit agreed with the Board that Amoco's
refusal to bargain with the union under section 8(a)(5) constituted an unfair labor practice.
Id.

21. Murphy Diesel Co. v. NLRB, 454 F.2d 303 (7th Cir. 1971).
22. NLRB v. Miller Brewing Co., 408 F.2d 12 (9th Cir. 1969). Although newly promul-

gated plant rules overlapped with the previously existing plant rules, two of the later rules
and the enforcement machinery were new. Management prerogative to amend existing plant
rules does not encompass the right to unilaterally promulgate plant rules which are substan-
tially new.

23. 529 F.2d 427, 431 (5th Cir. Mar., 1976).
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regard to the alteration of existing plant rules, the new rules must
be substantively and procedurally equivalent to the old rules.

B. Enforcement of Collective Bargaining Agreements

Section 301(a) of the LMRA authorizes both employers and
labor unions to bring suit for the violation of a collective bargaining
contract in any United States District Court of competent jurisdic-
tion."4 In addition to conferring jurisdiction on the federal court,
section 301(e) also requires the court to develop federal substantive
law to resolve labor disputes.2 In U.S. Steel Corp. v. United Mine
Workers, 21 the Fifth Circuit determined the standard of union liabil-
ity to be applied in a section 301(a) damage suit for the violation of
an "implied" no-strike clause in a collective bargaining contract.

United States Steel brought a damage suit against the union
for breach of contract following a thirty hour wildcat strike by union
members. 27 The union had not expressly agreed not to strike in the
collective bargaining agreement. However, based on the Supreme
Court decision in Local 174, Teamsters v. LucasFlour Co.,"5 an
agreement not to strike was implicitly given by the union in ex-
change for United States Steel's express agreement to submit dis-
putes to arbitration. 2 United States Steel alleged that the union
was responsible for breach of its implied no-strike clause. 0 The
district court held that to sustain its action for damages, United
States Steel had to prove that the union had "in some active way
made itself party to the strike."'31 Because United States Steel was
unable to meet this burden, the district court dismissed the suit.32

On appeal to the Fifth Circuit, United States Steel argued that
the district court had applied the wrong standard of union liability
for breach of contract in a section 301 action.3 Alternatively, the
company argued that the union was liable for the "mass action" of

24. 29 U.S.C. § 185 (1970).
25. Textile Workers Union v. Lincoln Mills, 353 U.S. 448, 456 (1957); See United Steel-

workers v. Warrior & Gulf Navigation Co., 363 U.S. 574, 577-78 (1960); International Brother-
hood of Teamsters v. W.L. Mead, 230 F.2d 576, 580-82 (lst Cir. 1956).

26. 519 F.2d 1249 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975).
27. Id. at 1251.
28. 369 U.S. 95 (1962).
29. 519 F.2d 1249, 1252 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975).
30. Id. at 1251.
31. Id.
32. Id.
33. Id. at 1252.
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its members."
Initially, the company argued that in breach of contract suits

brought under section 301, union liability could be predicated on the
acts of the union's agents." In determining whether a person has
acted as an agent for another in a section 301 suit, section 301(e)
states that "the question of whether the specific acts performed
were actually authorized or subsequently ratified shall not be con-
trolling. ' 3 The company argued that the section 301(e) agency test,
rather than the "actual participation" test adopted by the district
court, was the proper standard of union liability in breach of con-
tract actions.3 7 The Fifth Circuit, however, disagreed. The court
noted that the union had not expressly agreed not to strike in the
collective bargaining agreement. Rather, the no-strike provision was
merely implied in the contract. In accord with the district court's
conclusion, the Fifth Circuit found that the absence of an express
no-strike clause indicated that the parties intended to impose a
heavier burden of proof regarding union strike liability.38

Presumably, had the no-strike provision been express, the Fifth
Circuit would have applied the section 301(e) agency test. It ap-
pears, therefore, that in the Fifth Circuit different legal conse-
quences flow from a determination of whether the no-strike clause
is express or implied in the bargaining agreement. The common law
agency principles adopted by section 301(e) would apply in deter-
mining union liability for breach of an express no-strike clause. This
agency test embraces both apparent and actual authority as evi-
dence of an agency relationship. 39 On the other hand, union liability
for breach of an implied no-strike clause attaches only upon a find-
ing that the acts of the striking members were actually authorized
or subsequently ratified by the union. Thus, under the Fifth Circuit
view, a finding of apparent strike authority would be insufficient to

34. Id.
35. Id.
36. 29 U.S.C. § 185(e) (1970).
37. 519 F.2d 1249, 1252 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975).
38. Id. at 1251.
39. Id. at 1252. The issue in U.S. Steel concerning the apparent agency authority of the

three union committeemen who participated in the work stoppage, therefore, was relevant to
the district court's determination of union liability. Although affirming the "actual participa-
tion" standard of union liability applied by the district court, the Fifth Circuit remanded as
to the question of the agency status of the striking committeemen; 29 U.S.C. § 106 (1970);
UMWA v. Gibbs, 383 U.S. 715, 736 (1966); NLRB v. IBEW, 467 F.2d 1158, 1159 (2d Cir.
1972); Vulcan Materials Co. v. United Steelworkers, 430 F.2d 446, 457 (5th Cir. 1970).
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hold a union liable for a work stoppage under an implied no-strike
clause.

The position taken by the Fifth Circuit regarding union strike
liability was implicity rejected by the Third Circuit in United States
Steel Corp. v. United Mines Workers.'0 There the court refused to
distinguish express from implied no-strike clauses. The Third Cir-
cuit had noted earlier that a no-strike agreement would be meaning-
less if the union could avoid liability for a work stoppage simply
because the specially empowered union officials did not initially
authorize or organize the strike." In support of its position, the
U.M. W.A. court declared that the Supreme Court's decision in
Lucas Flour had "laid to rest" any suggestions that the express and
implied no-strike obligation shared unequal legal positions. Accord-
ingly, the Third Circuit ruled that the imposition of different stan-
dards of union liability based upon the express or implied nature of
a no-strike clause constitutes a distinction without a difference.,2

Similarly, without regard to the express or implied nature of a no-
strike undertaking, the Fourth Circuit in United Construction
Workers v. Haislip Bakery Co. held that a strike which disregards
the agreed grievance procedure "is necessarily a breach" (of con-
tract). 3 Precedent in other circuits also supports the view that a
wildcat strike-regardless of union condonation-breaches a collec-
tive bargaining agreement which requires the submission of griev-
ances to arbitration." With the confusion in the circuit courts, the
distinction, if any, between express and implied no-strike clauses for
the purpose of determining union liability eventually must be re-
solved by the Supreme Court.

In its second argument before the Fifth Circuit, U.S. Steel
claimed that the union should be liable for the strike based upon
the "mass action" theory. 5 Typically urged as an alternate theory
of union liability, the mass action theory is premised upon the infer-
ence that union members acting in concert do not act without organ-

40. 534 F.2d 1063 (3rd Cir. 1976). [hereinafter cited as UMWA].
41. Eazor Express, Inc. v. International Brotherhood of Teamsters, 520 F.2d 951, 959-

60 (3rd Cir. 1975), cert. denied, 424 U.S. 935 (1976).
42. United States Steel Corp. v. UMWA, 534 F.2d 1063, 1073 (3rd Cir. 1976).
43. United Constr. Workers v. Haislip Bakery Co., 223 F.2d 872, 877 (4th Cir. 1955).
44. Lewis v. Benedict Coal Corp., 259 F.2d 346, 351 (6th Cir. 1958); International

Brotherhood of Teamsters v. W.L. Mead, 230 F.2d 576, 583-84 (1st Cir. 1956); United Con-
crete Pipe Corp. v. Laborer's Local 89, 231 Cal. App. 352, 41 Cal. Rptr. 816, 818 (1964); Colt's
Inc. v. Amalgamated Local 376, 314 F. Supp. 578, 579-80 (D. Conn. 1970).

45. 519 F.2d 1249, 1252 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975).
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ization or leadership. This leadership is imputed to the union and
in turn creates the agency relationship to support union liability.46

Earlier, in Vulcan Materials Co. v. United Steelworkers, the Fifth
Circuit ruled that "a union must be held responsible for the mass
action of its members."4 The U.S. Steel court distinguished the
present case from Vulcan Materials, however, on the basis that in
the Vulcan strike, agents of the union had actively encouraged the
work stoppage.48 Without reaching the merits of the mass action
theory, the Fifth Circuit regarded such a theory as the ominous
gateway to union strict liability and thereby rejected it as a basis
for union liability under the facts of U.S. Steel.4"

This charge asserted by the Fifth Circuit that the mass action
theory results in near strict liability for the union is typically ad-
vanced by mass action theory opponents; however, it was rejected
recently by the Third Circuit in UMWA. 10 The Third Circuit major-
ity declared that the mass action theory is not an exclusive founda-
tion for union liability. Necessarily interlocking with the mass ac-
tion theory is the evaluation of steps taken by union officials to halt
the strike activity.' Failure of the union to take necessary discipli-
nary action against its striking membership or affirmatively to disa-
vow the wildcat strike could manifest its consent to the strike and
thereupon establish union liability for the wildcat activity of its
membership.2 The breadth of union liability under the mass action

46. Eazor Express, Inc. v. International Brotherhood of Teamsters, 520 F.2d 951, 963
(3rd Cir. 1975), cert. denied, 424 U.S. 935 (1976); United States Steel Corp. v. UMWA, 534
F.2d 1063, 1973-74 (3rd Cir. 1976); Wagner Elec. Corp. v. International Union of Elec. Work-
ers, 496 F.2d 954, 956 (8th Cir. 1974).

47. 430 F.2d 446, 455 (5th Cir. 1970).
48. 519 F.2d 1249, 1253 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975).
49. Id.
50. 534 F.2d 1063, 1074 (3rd Cir. 1976).
51. Id. In his concurring opinion, Judge Rosenn disagreed with the majority view that

regardless of the theory upon which union liability is based, the court must inquire into the
reasonableness of the union's attempts to halt the unauthorized work stoppage. Under Judge
Rosenn's view, the mass action theory differs from the "reasonable efforts" theory of union
liability. If substantially all the union membership carries out the strike from its inception,
mass action liability will be imputed to the union at the time the strike occurs. Judge
Rosenn's view is predicated upon the underlying presumption that union members have
planned the strike or encouraged the membership to strike prior to its inception. The reasona-
ble efforts theory, on the other hand, is implied from the union's duty not to strike and
thereby imposes union liability for union officers' actions or failure to act only after the strike
occurs. Thus, "while union good faith efforts thereafter to end the strike may mitigate union
liability, it cannot completely escape the consequence of the initial wrongful act of its mem-
bership." Id. at 1080.

52. Sunset Line & Twine, 23 L.R.R.M. 1001, 1005-06 (1948); Teamsters Local 377, 62
L.R.R.M. 1326, 1328 (1966).
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theory is defined by a union "reasonable efforts" determination.
Therefore, notwithstanding evidence of an actual or apparent
agency relationship, a union may be liable for a wildcat strike if it
fails to use all reasonable efforts to end the work stoppage as soon
as possible. It was this rationale that prompted U.S. Steel to charge,
in the survey case, that the union's failure to discipline its striking
members and to return the strikers to their jobs as soon as possible
raised the inference of union liability.5 3

The "reasonable efforts" theory of union liability was an off-
shoot of congressional intent in enacting section 301(a) to foster and
enforce agreements not to strike.54 Traditionally, circuits have ap-
plied the "reasonable efforts" liability theory only to collective bar-
gaining agreements containing an express no-strike clause. 5 That is,
the duty to use all reasonable efforts to end the unauthorized strike
is implied from the union's pledge not to strike. In accord with the
majority view, the Fifth Circuit holds a union that expressly agreed
not to strike liable for failure to use its best efforts to end the work
stoppage .56

The Fifth Circuit has refused, however, to recognize the
"reasonable efforts" duty if the union's obligation not to strike is
merely implied in the agreement.57 The U.S. Steel court's rejection
of this duty stems from the court's interpretation of the bargaining

53. 519 F.2d at 1251. Over twenty-four hours passed before the union was able to end
the wildcat strike, yet the company offered evidence to show that it previously had been able
to notify its employees within three hours with ninety to ninety-five percent success.

54. Eazor Express v. Teamsters, 520 F.2d 951, 963 (3rd Cir. 1975).
55. In Haislip Bakery, the Fourth Circuit maintained that the union was not liable for

a breach of the contractually implied no-strike clause due to a wildcat strike of its members.
The Haislip court further asserted that the union had no contractual duty "to take any action
with regard to (the strike)." United Constr. Workers v. Haislip Bakery Co., 223 F.2d 872, 877
(4th Cir. 1955). The union, therefore, was absolved of any duty to use "all reasonable efforts"
to end the strike. The Haislip opinion was distinguished by the Third Circuit in Eazor
Express when it was submitted to support the Teamsters' position that it had no obligation
to use reasonable efforts to return the wildcatters to their jobs. Declaring that the union was
obligated to use all reasonable means to end unauthorized work stoppages, the Eazor Express
court justified its imposition of the "all reasonable efforts" duty on the grounds that, unlike
the contract in Haislip, the no-strike clause in Eazor Express was expressly included by the
parties. 520 F.2d at 960. In a later decision, however, the Third Circuit dissolved any distinc-
tion between the express and implied no-strike clauses with regard to the imposition of the
reasonable efforts duty: "If Eazor Express' reference to Haislip Bakery can be understood as
suggesting that a reasonable efforts obligation will not be implied from a no-strike obligation
that is itself implied, it is mere dictum." United States Steel Corp. v. UMWA, 534 F.2d 1063,
1073 (3rd Cir. 1976).

56. United States Steel Corp. v. UMWA, 519 F.2d 1249 (5th Cir. Sept. 1975).
57. Id. at 1255-56.

1977] 1193



1194 * TEXAS TECH LAW REVIEW [Vol. 8:1185

contract.18 Because a no-strike pledge was not expressly set forth in
the contract-according to the Fifth Circuit-then the duties at-
tendant to this pledge could not be imposed as a matter of law.5

Discarding any distinction between the express and implied no-
strike clauses, the Third Circuit now holds a union liable for dam-
ages arising from a wildcat strike-even though the union neither
authorized nor encouraged the work stoppage-if the contract con-
tained either a union no-strike pledge or a mandatory arbitration
clause and if after the inception of the strike the union failed to use
all reasonable efforts to return the strikers to their jobs.'" Depending
on their contract provisions, unions in the Fifth Circuit may be less
handicapped with strike liability at present than those in the Third
Circuit.

The Fifth Circuit, in support of its 1975 U.S. Steel decision,
drew heavily on Third circuit opinions that antedated the 1976
U. M. W.A. opinion by that circuit."' Unlike the 1976 opinion, the
previous cases had distinguished between express and implied no-
strike clauses in applying the reasonable efforts duty. 2 In light of
the previous accord between the Third and Fifth Circuits, whether
the recent Third Circuit view which abandoned the distinction will

58. Id. at 1252.
59. Id. at 1254-55.
60. "All reasonable efforts" as defined in Eazor Express usually requires more than

mere oral or written warnings to the strikers by the union. 520 F.2d at 964. Wagner Elec. Corp.
v. Local 1104, International Union of Radio and Machine Workers, 496 F.2d 954, 956 (8th
Cir. 1974); Although, as recognized by the Fifth Circuit in the survey case, the employer is
capable of disciplining the wildcat strikers, Judge Maris in Eazor Express declared that
included in the union duty to use "all reasonable efforts" was the duty to punish unauthorized
strikers where the disciplinary measures are available and appear necessary. Id. at 964. In
the Fifth Circuit survey case, however, Judge Wisdom more narrowly viewed the union duty
to discipline. Writing for the panel majority, Judge Wisdom indicated that while the union
must renounce the actions of its striking agents, union liability will not automatically arise
from the failure to discipline. United States Steel Corp. v. UMWA, 519 F.2d 1249, 1256 (5th
Cir. Sept., 1975). Taking an equally general stance, the Third Circuit UMWA decision re-
garded the reasonableness of union efforts as a case-by-case assessment. United States Steel
Corp. v. UMWA, 534 F.2d 1063, 1074 (3rd Cir. 1976). With regard to the wildcat strike in
Eazor Express, the Third Circuit agreed with the district court that the union was entitled
to a grace period following the walkout before the "reasonable efforts" duty attached. 520
F.2d at 965. Noting this holding, the Fifth Circuit in the present survey case declared that
the forty-eight hour period granted in Eazor Express was not necessarily to be construed as
the strict standard for all wildcat strikes. The grace period, if any, should be determined by
the facts and circumstances surrounding the strike. United States Steel Corp. v. UMWA, 519
F.2d 1249, 1255 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975).

61. 519 F.2d at 1253-55.
62. Id. at 1253.
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be adopted in the Fifth Circuit remains for determination in future
wildcat strike cases.

II. The Occupational Safety and Health Act

The Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (OSHA) 3 was
enacted by Congress to ensure that all employers who engage in
business affecting interstate commerce provide their employees
with a safe and healthful work area.64 Prior to the enactment of
OSHA, the responsibility to prevent industrial accidents and avoid
job site health hazards was assumed either by state legislatures or
the individual employer. As was indicated by the rising number of
employee deaths, state statutes and employer controls were inade-
quate to guard employees from job-related injury or death. 5

To attain its goal of creating a safe workplace for employees,
OSHA imposed two basic duties upon employers. First, all employ-
ers subject to OSHA are required to comply wiih the specific health
and safety standards promulgated by the Secretary of Labor. 6 Sec-
ond, with regard to occupational circumstances which are not regu-
lated by specific standards, the employer is charged with the general
duty to eliminate from the workplace all recognized hazards causing
or likely to cause death or serious physical harm."7

To insure employer compliance with the OSHA standards, the
Secretary of Labor is authorized to conduct surprise inspections of
the employer's workplace." If a violation of a specific OSHA stan-

63. 29 U.S.C. §§ 651-678 (1970).
64. 29 U.S.C. § 651.
65. According to the U.S. Senate's 1970 statistics, over 14,000 employees were killed

each year due to industrial accidents, with an additional yearly average of 2.2 million workers
suffering from job disabilities. "Accordingly, during the past four years more Americans have
been killed where they work than in Vietnam. This grim current scene represents a worsening
trend, for the fact is that the number of disabling injuries per million man hours worked is
today twenty per cent higher than in 1958." S. Rep. No. 91-1282,, 91st Cong., 2d Sess., 2
(1970); [hereinafter cited as 5. REP.] State Workmen's Compensation statutes merely pro-
vided the injured employee or the survivors of the deceased employee with compensation after
the accident occurred. These state statutes failed to implement job safety practices to abate
the hazardous working conditions which gave rise to the compensation claims. Likewise, the
common law actions of negligence or wrongful death were unable to prevent employee death
and injury. Furthermore, without the imposition of mandatory job safety controls, many
employers lacked incentive to develop and implement their own company safety rules.

66. 29 U.S.C. §§ 654-655 (1970).
67. 29 U.S.C. § 654(a)(1) (1970).
68. 29 U.S.C. § 557(a) (1970); Notifying an employer of a planned inspection could

subject the informant to a fine or imprisonment. Id. at § 666(f). The constitutionality of the
OSHA warrantless inspection was challenged in this circuit but the merits were not reached
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dard or of the employer's general duty is discovered during the
inspection, the Secretary of Labor is authorized to issue a citation
to the noncomplying employer." Although the occurrence of an in-
jury is not required to find a violation, the gravity of the possible
injury determines the type of violation with which the employer will
be charged. 0 Within a reasonable time after the inspection, the
Secretary also may propose a monetary penalty for the violation.'
The independent OSHA Review Commission (Commission) is em-
powered to assess the final penalty.12

The Secretary of Labor must be notified within fifteen days
following the employer's receipt of the citation and proposed pen-
alty if the employer desires to contest them. 3 The case is then
referred to an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) who conducts a
formal hearing under the Administrative Procedure Act at the con-
clusion of which he may affirm, modify, or vacate the Labor Secre-

on the ground that the employer had impliedly consented to the search. Lake Butler Apparel
Co. v. Secretary, 519 F.2d 84 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975).

69. 29 U.S.C. § 658(a) (1970) requires the Secretary to issue citations with reasonable
promptness. The Act provides a six month statute of limitations barring the issuance of a
citation if more than six months has passed from the date on which the violation occurred.
Id. at § 658(c). The citation must describe the nature of the alleged violation with particular-
ity and the time period in which the violative condition must be corrected (abatement pe-
riod). Id. at § 658(a).

70. There are three types of violations: serious, nonserious, or de minimus. If the likeli-
hood of death or serious physical harm resulting from the alleged violation was substantial,
it is regarded as a serious violation. Id. at § 666(j). The only exception to a serious violation
finding is the employer's lack of knowledge of the violation and his inability with reasonable
diligence to discover it. Id. A nonserious violation occurs where the possible injury from the
violation would not result in death or serious physical harm but would have an indirect or
direct effect on the employee's safety or health. If the violation would bear no relationship
on the safety or health of the employee, then it is classified as a de minimus violation.

71. Notice of the proposed penalty must be sent to the employer within a reasonable
time following the OSHA investigation. 29 U.S.C. § 659(a) (1970).

72. Sections 666(b) and (c) provide a $1,000 maximum penalty for each violation if it
is a serious or nonserious violation. No monetary penalty is imposed for a de minimus viola-
tion. If any violation is willful and repeated, an employer is subject to a maximum penalty
of $10,000 for each violation. 29 U.S.C. § 666(a) (1970). Section 666(i) vests the Commission
with authority to assess the violation penalty and sets forth guidelines to determine the most
appropriate penalty amount: the size of the noncomplying employer's business, the serious-
ness of the violation, the good faith of the employer, and the history of previous violations.

73. An employer's failure to indicate clearly in his notice of intention to contest whether
the contest is directed to the citation, the proposed penalty, or both, within the fifteen day
period will cause the Secretary's order to be final and unreviewable. 29 U.S.C. § 659(a) (1970);
29 C.F.R. § 1903.17. Untimely filing of notice of contest has been excused, however, if the
late filing was caused by the Secretary's violation of the Act or of his own regulations, and if
the employer is able to demonstrate actual prejudice from such a violation. Atlantic Marine,
Inc. v. OSHRC, 524 F.2d 476 (5th Cir. Dec., 1975).
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tary's citation or proposed penalty.7" If the employer is adversely
affected by the order of the ALJ and is not granted discretionary
review by the Commission, or if he is granted discretionary review
but remains adversely affected, the employer is entitled to direct
review by the appropriate court of appeals.75

Both the substantive and procedural requirements of OSHA
were challenged in the Fifth Circuit this survey period. First, the
Fifth Circuit considered the substantive issue of employer liability
for general and specific duty violations caused by employee miscon-
duct. Second, the court entertained seventh, sixth, and fifth amend-
ment constitutional challenges to OSHA's expedited enforcement
system. The seventh amendment issue was decided ultimately by
the Supreme Court.

A. General and Specific Duty Liability of Employers

Specific safety standards are issued by the Secretary of Labor
which apply to conceivable hazards in every occupation. All em-
ployers are required to comply with the specific safety standards
established for their occupation.7" As a supplement to these specific
standards, OSHA imposes upon employers a general duty to clear
their workplace of all recognized hazards.77

In Horne Plumbing and Heating Co. v. OSAHRC,78 two experi-
enced and well-trained job foremen died as a result of their failure
to shore the portion of the trench in which they were working. The
failure of the foremen to shore the trench violated company policy,
their employer's instructions, and specific duty standards.79 As a
result of their death, the employer was charged with a serious viola-
tion of OSHA.5 0 Hor n e Plumbing claimed that it was not liable for
the violation of the OSHA shoring standards. The employer claimed
that because he lacked actual knowledge of the violation and was
unable to discover it with the exercise of reasonable diligence, he fell

74. 29 U.S.C. § 659(c) (1970).
75. 29 U.S.C. § 660(a) (1970). Petition for review before the court of appeals must be

filed within sixty days from the date the Commission order was issued.
76. 29 U.S.C. § 654(b) (1970).
77. Id. at § 654(a)(1).
78. 528 F.2d 564 (5th Cir. Feb., 1976).
79. 29 C.F.R. 1926.652(b) (1976); 29 C.F.R. 1926.652(i) (1976).
80. 528 F.2d 564, 566 (5th Cir. Feb., 1976). The employer received two citations. The

first alleged a serious violation of the Act in failing to properly shore the sides of the trench

and storing excavatd material too close to the trench. The second citation, not at issue in
the present case, alleged a serious violation for storing dirt too close to the excavation site.
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within the affirmative defense provided in section 666(j) of OSHA.8

Although the ALJ acknowledged the unforeseeability of the em-
ployee's misconduct, he rejected Home's affirmative defense.82 The
ALJ affirmed the Secretary's serious violation citation on agency
principles.8 The misconduct of the foremen-as members of man-
agement-were imputed to the employer.84 Finding no prejudicial
error, the Commission upheld the order of the ALJ.5

In accord with the proper standard of administrative review,
the Fifth Circuit noted that the Commission's finding of employer
liability must be affirmed if consistent with established law and if
supported by substantial evidence on the record.8' Reviewing circuit
and Commission precedent as well as the language and legislative
history of the Act, the Fifth Circuit determined that the ALJ and
the Commission had misconstrued the applicable law.87 The Horne
court therefore set aside the citation order.

Although employees as well as employers are required to com-
ply with OSHA standards,8 Congress intended to charge employers
with the ultimate duty of OSHA compliance.8 9 The stated purpose
of OSHA, however, is to assure safe and healthful working condi-
tions to employees only "so far as possible." 0 Thus, under the lan-
guage of the Act, employers clearly are not absolutely liable for all
accidents occurring at the workplace.

In light of the purpose and policy of OSHA, the Horne court
examined other circuit decisions construing the breadth of employer
liability for OSHA violations that arise from employee misconduct.

81. 29 U.S.C. § 666(j) (1970). An employer does not commit a "serious violation" of the
Act if he "did not and could not with the exercise of reasonable diligence, know of the presence
of the violation."

82. 528 F.2d 564, 567 (5th Cir. Feb., 1976).
83. Id.
84. Id. A supervisor's knowledge of a hazard or violation is attributable to the employer.

Thomas F. Mulligan & Sons, Inc., 16 OSAHRC 758, 766-67 (1975); Floyd S. Pike, 15 OS-
AHRC 302, 304 (1975); Structural Steel Erectors, Inc., 15 OSAHRC 141, 142-43 (1975); Where
the supervisor's actions are in violation of the employer's policies and unpreventable, how-
ever, the Commission has not imputed the violation of the Employer. Engineers Constr. Inc.,
3 OSHC 1537, 1538 (1975); Dandy Masonry, Inc., 3 OSAHRC 1443, 1444 (1975); Ocean
Elec. Co., 3 OSAHRC 1705, 1706-07 (1975); B.D. Click, Inc., 4 OSAHRC 1849, 1850 (1976).

85. Commission review, if granted, generally is based on the record and submitted
briefs without oral argument. 29 C.F.R. § 2200.93 (1976).

86. Home Plumbing & Heating Co. v. OSAHRC, 528 F.2d 564, 567 (5th Cir. Feb., 1976).
87. Id. at 568.
88. 29 U.S.C. § 654 (1970).
89. S. REP. supra note 64.
90. 29 U.S.C. § 651 (1970).
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These cases concerned the liability of the employer under the gen-
eral duty clause, whereas the Horne case involved the alleged viola-
tion of a specific OSHA standard; however, the Fifth Circuit held
that the law regarding the employer's responsibility under both
clauses was the same."' As noted by the Horne court, both the Sev-
enth and D.C. Circuits have held that the employer is obligated to
eliminate only preventable hazards. The employer's duty remains
undefined, however, because this standard contains the inherent
question of what hazardous conduct is preventable. One Seventh
Circuit case has defined a preventable hazard as one that is foresee-
able. 3 Recent Commission decisions also support the Seventh Cir-
cuit view that the foreseeability of the hazard is the issue to be
resolved in upholding a serious violation citation."

In the Home case, the deceased employees had been licensed
journeymen plumbers for twenty years with extensive training and
experience in the use of shoring. Both men had established a reputa-
tion for using shoring properly. The ALJ had also found that Home
was diligent in providing for the safety of his employees and had
provided the employees with the necessary shoring materials at the
job site on the day of the accident.95 Considering these facts, the
Fifth Circuit concluded that Horne could have foreseen and pre-
vented the accident only if he had physically remained at the exca-
vation site to personnally supervise the shoring operations." Al-
though courts have emphasized the importance of adequate em-
ployer supervision, the Fifth Circuit observed that only reasonable
supervision has been required. 7 Further, constant supervision of
experienced, trained employees has been found by other circuits to
be an unreasonable burden. 8 In addition, the Commission has held
that an employer is "entitled to rely on the experience and assumed

91. Home Plumbing & Heating Co. v. OSAHRC, 528 F.2d 564, 568 (5th Cir. Feb., 1976).
92. Id. at 568, citing Brennan v. OSAHRC, 501 F.2d 1196 (7th Cir. 1974) and National

Realty & Constr Co. v. OSAHRC, 489 F.2d 1257 (D.C. Cir. 1973).
93. Brennan v. Butler Lime & Cement Co., 520 F.2d 1011, 1017 (7th Cir. 1975).
94. Id. Brennan v. Republic Creosoting Co., 501 F.2d 1196, 1199-1200 (7th Cir. 1974);

Margone Shipbuilding Co., 10 OSAHRC 383, 400-01 (1974).
95. Home Plumbing & Heating Co. v. OSAHRC, 528 F.2d 564, 566 (5th Cir. Feb., 1976).
96. Id. at 570.
97. Id. at 569.
98. Scheel Constr. Inc., 4 OSAHRC 1825, 1826-27 (1976). The employer was not liable

for a violation due to employee misconduct despite the job foreman's temporary absence from
the job site at the time of the violation. National Realty & Constr. Co. v. OSAHRC, 489 F.2d
1257, 1266-67 (D.C. Cir. 1973); Pfeiffer Elec. Co., 17 OSAHRC 5, 7-8 (1975).
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common sense of its foremen."" Based on this precedent, the experi-
ence of the employees, and the employer's more than adequate
safety program, the Fifth Circuit ruled that imposing upon Horne
the duty of personally directing the shoring operations would have
been an unnecessary, infeasible, and unreasonable burden. 00

Next considering the Commission's strict agency concept, the
Fifth Circuit examined the consequences of basing employer liabil-
ity upon the imputation of an errant supervisor's knowledge and
conduct. Decisions of both the circuit courts and the Commission
have established that proof by the Labor Secretary of an employer's
actual knowledge of a violation is essential to finding a serious viola-
tion.' 0' The rationale under the Act for requiring proof of knowledge
was recently set forth by the Ninth Circuit.'10 This rationale is that
Congress enacted OSHA with the intention of achieving a safer
workplace through employer-employee cooperation.' °3 Upholding a
serious violation citation without proof of the employer's knowledge
of the employee violation would relieve the employee of any duty to
comply with OSHA and in effect make all employers absolutely
liable for any violation of the Act.104 Clearly, such a result would be
contrary to the Act and the intent of Congress. Adopting this view,
the Fifth Circuit vacated the Commission's serious violation cita-
tion. The Horne court rules that the Commission could not support
a finding of employer liability for the willful misconduct of his su-
pervisors merely upon the basis of their agency relationship as a
matter of law.105

99. Clearwater Power Co., 7 OSAHRC 707,718 (1974); Hart-McCowan Foundation Co.,
6 OSAHRC 558, 567 (1974).

100. Home Plumbing & Heating Co. v. OSAHRC, 528 F.2d 564, 570 (5th Cir. Feb.,
1976).

101. Brennan v. Alsea Lumber Co., 511 F.2d 1139, 1143 (9th Cir. 1975); Scheel Constr,
Inc., 4 OSHC 1825, 1826 (1976); D.R. Johnson Lumber Co., 17 OSAHRC 426, 427 (1975).

102. Brennan v. Alsea Lumber Co., 511 F.2d 1139 (9th Cir. 1975).
103. Id. at 1144, citing S. REP. supra note 64.
104. Congress did not intend to make employers insurers of employee observance of job

safety standards. S. REP., supra note 64. To avoid undermining the purpose of the Act, the
Commission and the courts hold that an employer who makes all reasonable attempts to
ensure employee compliance with the OSHA will not be held liable for the isolated, unfore-

seeable misconduct of an employee. Brennan v. Hanovia Lamp Division, 502 F.2d 946, 951
(3rd Cir. 1974); Southern Refractories, Inc., 16 OSAHRC 586, 590 (1975); Clearwater Power
Co., 7 OSAHRC 707, 718 (1974); Window Cleaning Ser. Co., 7 OSAHRC 489, 505-06 (1974).

105. Horne Plumbing & Heating Co. v. OSAHRC, 528 F.2d 564, 571 (5th Cir. Feb.,
1976). In light of the implied consent theory as a basis for agency responsibility, the breadth
of the Fifth Circuit's holding appears to be limited by a determination of the employer's
ability to foresee the violation.
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In Getty Oil Co. v. OSAHRC,'0 the Fifth Circuit affirmed a
Commission order finding the employer guilty of a serious general
duty violation. Similarly to the accident in Horne, the fatal hazard
upon which the violation was based arose from the reckless disobe-
dience of the employee. The employer in Getty owned and operated
an oil and gas separation facility, and the employee was assigned
the task of installing a newly designed pressure vessel. Failure to
pressure test the vessel prior to its installation was a recognized fatal
hazard in the oil industry. 7 Getty Oil Company's Area Engineer,
therefore, directed the employee on numerous occasions to have the
vessel pressure tested after it was fabricated. However, the em-
ployee disregarded these instructions and activated the vessel before
it was tested."8 The resulting explosion killed the employee and
seriously injured another worker.

To sustain a violation of the general duty clause, the Labor
Secretary must prove that the employer (1) failed to render its work-
place free of a hazard which was (2) recognized as (3) causing or
likely to cause death or serious physical harm.' °" That the oil indus-
try required pressure testing and acknowledged the probable fatal
consequences of the failure to test was cited by the Fifth Circuit as
a basis for supporting the Commission's ruling of a general duty
violation."0 The Getty majority, admitting that an employer was
liable only for preventable hazardous conduct, further supported its
affirmation of the general duty violation by finding that the fatal
hazard could have been prevented by mere pressure testing."' Be-
cause the Getty court found a violation, the only remaining issue
was whether it was properly cited as "serious.''

As in Home, the employer raised the defense that he had nei-
ther actual knowledge of the employee's violation nor the reasonable
ability to discover the presence of the violation."' The Fifth Circuit
acknowledged that Getty did not have actual knowledge of the em-
ployee's failure to test the vessel after its fabrication." ' However,
the Fifth Circuit majority upheld the ALJ's determination that

106. 530,F.2d 1143 (5th Cir. April, 1976).
107. Id. at 1144.
108. Id.
109. Id. at 1145.
110. Id.
111. Id.
112. Id. at 1145-47.
113. Id. at 1145-46.
114. Id. at 1145.
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Getty was guilty of a serious violation."5 It reached this result by
balancing the high risk of serious injury absent the pressure testing
against the negligible efforts required to assure the fitness of the
vessel."' According to this test, Getty's failure to inquire of the
employee prior to the vessel installation whether the necessary tests
had been conducted constituted inadequate supervision and
thereby a failure to exercise reasonable diligence." 7

Dissenting from the panel majority, Judge Gee declared that a
finding of employer liability required the exercise of unreasonable
diligence.I" According to the dissent, an employer would be required
"to check to see if every order to a reliable employee had been
complied with.""' An employer would be burdened with the duty
to continuously supervise even his experienced employees. Adopting
the Fifth Circuit's holding two months earlier in Home Judge Gee
asserted that the Secretary failed to satisfy his burden of proving
that Getty should have discovered the violation through the exercise
of reasonable diligence. Judge Gee stated that upholding the serious
violation citation without such proof was tantamount to accepting
the previously rejected standard of strict employer liability.2'

The common issue in both Getty and Horne was whether the
independent, violative acts of employees constituted a serious viola-
tion for which the employer is liable. This issue has continued to
create confusion in the Commission and the courts. 2' Clearly a stan-

115. Id. at 1147.
116. Id. The Fifth Circuit's reference to the negligible efforts that could have been made

by Getty to prevent the hazard is based upon an alleged phone conversation between Getty's
area supervisor and the deceased employee on the morning of the accident. The employee
called the supervisor to inform him that "he was going to Palacios to put the unit in service."
According to the Getty majority, this statement should have given the supervisor notice that
the vessel's fabrication had been completed at which point he should have inquired whether
the employee had followed the testing instructions. Id. at 1147. Presumably, the result of such
an inquiry would have been the supervisor's discovery and prevention of the employee's
violation and death. Neither the ALJ, the Commission, nor the Fifth Circuit, however, made
a finding that the employee had picked up the fabricated vessel at the time of the telephone
call. Id. at 1146. Supported by the fact that "Palacios" was the site of the welding shop at
which the employee had been instructed to take the vessel for fabrication and pressure testing
rather than the installation site, Judge Gee advises that it was more likely that the employee
had not yet picked up the vessel when he made the call. If, as the employee stated, "he was
going to Palacios," he would not have had the opportunity to pick up the fabricated vessel
and knowingly disregard the supervisor's testing instructions. Id. at 1148.

117. Id. at 1147.
118. Id. at 1148.
119. Id.
120. Id. at 1148.
121. Decisions holding the employer liable: Structural Steel Erectors, 15 OSAHRC 141,
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dard of strict employer liability is unacceptable. The employer,
however, must be held to some standard of care for the protection
of his employees. Under the definition of a serious violation, it ap-
pears that the proper standard is that of "reasonable" employee
supervision.'2 2 Accordingly, the foreseeability of an employee's will-
ful misconduct is elementary in determining the reasonableness of
the supervision.'1

Relevant considerations in assessing the foreseeability of em-
ployee misconduct are the adequacy of the employer's safety in-
structions, the experience of the employee, the employee's prior
history of noncompliance with safety rules, and the adequacy of the
employer's safety rule enforcement.' 24 Although these factors were
persuasive in the Fifth Circuit's reversal of employer liability in
Home, they were not applied by the Getty court.' 2 Notwithstanding
Getty's defense that the employee had thirty years of experience not
only as a field mechanic but also with the installation of pressure
vessels, that he enjoyed a reputation as a reliable employee, and
that he was given repeated safety warnings prior to his death, the
Fifth Circuit maintained that a final inquiry by the supervisor
might have encouraged the employee to follow the safety instruc-
tions.' 2 There was no reason, however, for the supervisor or any
other job foreman to foresee that the experienced employee in Getty
would not follow the established safety procedure. In upholding
employer liability, the Getty court appeared to be more influenced
by a hindsight view of the inconsequential efforts that could have
been made to avoid the hazard than by the foreseeability of the
employee's misconduct.

Courts have required the Secretary to demonstrate that sug-
gested preventative measures are feasible and that, if they are im-
plemented, they would substantially diminish the prospect of em-
ployee misconduct.'1' Additionally, the cost and reasonableness of
those measures are valid considerations in assessing the adequacy

143 (1975); Hammonds Constr. Co., 3 OSAHRC 1260, 1261 (1975).
122. 29 U.S.C. § 666(j) (1970).
123. Southern Ry., 20 OSAHRC 691, 693 (1975).
124. See Brennan v. Butler Lime and Cement Co., 520 F.2d 1011, 1018 (7th Cir. 1974);

Pacific Gas & Elec. Co., 16 OSAHRC 200, 203 (1975); Richmond Block, Inc., 6 OSAHRC 180,
182 (1974); Standard Glass Co., 1 OSAHRC 594, 601 (1972).

125. The Getty majority did not rely upon or distinguish the Horne Plumbing preced-
ent.

126. 530 F.2d at 1145-46.
127. National Realty & Constr. Co. v. OSAHRC, 489 F.2d 1257, 1267 (D.C. Cir. 1973).
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of the employer's safety program and thus the preventability of the
injury. 2 18 In Getty, the measure required of the employer was the
addition of a final verification to the numerous safety warnings.
Double checking an experienced employee does not insure preven-
tion; moreover such increased supervisory measures could conceiva-
bly require hiring another supervisor merely to monitor employee
compliance with safety instructions. Thus, expense would be a sig-
nificant hindrance.

The District Of Columbia Circuit Court has held that miscon-
duct is not preventable "if its elimination would require methods of
hiring, training, monitoring, or sanctioning workers which are either
so untested or so expensive that safety experts would substantially
concur in thinking the methods infeasible. 29 Even more specifically,
the high level of employer supervision contemplated in Getty has
been rejected as unreasonable by both the Commission and the
courts.'3 In sum, the analysis used by the Getty court to find a
preventable violation seems unsupportable.

B. Constitutionality

Because OSHA is still in its infancy, it is suffering from the
normal growing pains of regulatory statutes. As with any new stat-
ute, one of the first and major challenges is to its constitutional
validity. Several attacks on the constitutionality of the six year old
OSHA were entertained during the survey period by the Fifth Cir-
cuit in Atlas Roofing Co. v. OSAHRC.' 3' In a case of first impres-
sion, the employer in Atlas challenged the Act, contending that its
provisions violated the seventh, sixth, and fifth amendment.3 2

1. Seventh Amendment - Right to Jury Trial

Assuming arguendo that the monetary penalties assessed under
the Act for employer violations are merely civil remedies rather than
criminal sanctions, the employer in Atlas contended that the sev-
enth amendment entitled him to a jury determination of the factual

128. 489 F.2d at 1266-67.
129. Id. at 1266 n.37.
130. Id. at 1266. Georgia Power Co., 14 OSAHRC 513, 522 (1974); Clearwater Power Co.,

7 OSAHRC 707, 718 (1974). But see Arnold Hansen Co., 1 OSAHRC 869, 871-72 (1972).
131. 518 F.2d 990 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975), aff'd, 45 U.S.L.W. 4312 (March 22, 1977).
132. The basis of the employer's suit was the issuance of a serious violation citation and

the assessment of a six hundred dollar penalty by the Secretary following the inspection
discovery of inadequately covered roof openings. The employer's alleged violation resulted in
the accidental death of an employee.
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issue of whether an OSHA violation occurred.'33 The Fifth Circuit
denied Atlas' alleged right to a jury trial, stating that with the
assignment of adjudicatory responsibility to an agency, an addi-
tional jury trial requirement would interfere with the administrative
body's role in the OSHA enforcement scheme.'3 4 The Supreme
Court granted certiorari in Atlas on the seventh amendment issue.15

Before the Supreme Court, the petitioner-employers alleged
that a suit for civil penalties which arose from a statutory violation
constituted a suit for a money judgment which traditionally was a
suit at common law as contemplated by the seventh amendment. 13

Accordingly, the petitioners asserted that they were entitled to a
jury determination of the factual issues relating to the violation.
Second, the petitioners claimed that Congress could systematically
deprive employers of their seventh amendment jury rights if permit-
ted by the courts to transfer traditional legal remedies to the juris-
diction of an administrative agency in which no jury is available. 137

Upholding the decisions of the Fifth Circuit Court, the Su-
preme Court ruled that the seventh amendment is inapplicable to
OSHA. The Supreme Court stated that the rights at issue in OSHA
suits are public rights rather than individual rights. 138 According to
the Court, Congress could assign enforcement of statutorily created
public rights to an administrative forum whose procedures necessar-
ily precluded factfinding by a separate body. 39 The Supreme Court
further supported the Atlas holding from a policy standpoint, stat-

133. The seventh amendment provides that in suits at common law, where the value
in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of jury trial shall be preserved. U.S.
CONST. amend. VII.

134. Atlas Roofing Co. v. OSAHRC, 518 F.2d 990, 1011 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975), afj'd, 45
U.S.L.W. 4312 (March 22, 1977). See also Mohawk Excavating, Inc. v. OSAHRC, 5 OSHC
1001 (2d Cir. 1977).

135. The Supreme Court also granted certiorari in Frank Irey Jr., Inc. v. OSAHRC, 3
OSHC 1283 (3rd Cir. 1975), cert. granted, 44 U.S.L.W. 3531 (Aug. 22, 1976). The Irey and
Atlas cases were consolidated for appeal to the Supreme Court. In a 6-4 decision on rehearing,
the Third Circuit Irey court upheld the constitutionality of the OSHA's enforcement scheme,
ruling that the seventh amendment does not restrict Congress from setting up an administra-
tive enforcement scheme including the assessment of penalties without the necessity of a jury
trial.

136. Atlas Roofing Co. v. OSAHRC, 45 U.S.L.W. 4312, 4314 (March 22, 1977).
137. Id. at 4316.
138. Id. at 4315.
139. The right of Congress to delegate factfinding authority to administrative agencies

without violating seventh amendment jury trial rights has been exercised and upheld with
regard to tax penalties, customs and immigration penalties, housing discrimination damage
suits, and NLRA suits for back pay. 45 U.S.L.W. at 4315-4316.
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ing that the seventh amendment does not require Congress to over
burden "already crowded federal courts" with the various special-
ized legal issues arising from a new statute.4 0

Addressing the second contention of the petitioners, the Su-
preme Court examined the history of jury trial rights underlying the
seventh amendment.' Prior to the adoption of the seventh amend-
ment, the right to a jury trial did not attach to all civil and criminal
proceedings at common law.' The Court noted that the right to a
jury trial in a court of law, in contrast to the nonjury trial in a court
of equity, hinged upon the law court's provision for a cause of action
and an adequate remedy.4 3 The court noted that the enactment of
OSHA was precipitated by the inadequacy of common law remedies
to ensure safe workplaces. OSHA thus created a cause of action and
remedies which were unavailable at common law. The Supreme
Court concluded that the purpose of the seventh amendment was
merely to preserve existing common law jury rights; it did not pre-
vent Congress, therefore, from enforcing new statutory rights in a
forum without a jury trial.'

2. Sixth Amendment Challenge

As a defense to the Secretary's penalty assessment, the em-
ployer in Atlas asserted that the six hundred dollar penalty, al-
though labeled in the Act as a civil fine, was in essence a criminal
sanction .5 Atlas thus claimed that in the absence of a right to trial
by jury, the OSHA enforcement mechanism violated the sixth
amendment.

To determine whether sixth amendment rights had been de-
nied, the Fifth Circuit analyzed the character of an OSHA penalty
by observing the congressional label that denoted the penalty as a
civil rather than criminal fine. Finding that congressional intent
was inconclusive,'46 the Fifth Circuit applied the Kennedy v.
Mendoza-Martinez tests to the face of the Act.'47 The Atlas court

140. 45 U.S.L.W. at 4315.
141. Id. at 4316.
142. Id.
143. Id.
144. Id. at 4317.
145. 518 F.2d 990, 994 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975), aff'd, 45 U.S.L.W. 4312 (March 22, 1977).
146. 518 F.2d at 1000.
147. Id. at 1000-11. In Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martinez, 372 U.S. 144, 168 (1963), the

Supreme Court set forth seven tests to determine whether an act of Congress was penal or
regulatory in character: whether the sanction involves an affirmative disability or restraint,
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thereafter found the sixth amendment inapplicable to OSHA penal-
ties because the focus of the statutory penalties was not punishment
but the control of job site safety-a legitimate government con-
cern."1

8

Although the Supreme Court decision in Atlas was expressly
limited to the seventh amendment issue, the Court implicitly de-
cided the sixth amendment issue as well. Basing its opinion upon
its earlier decision in Muniz v. Hoffman, 141 the Court stated that no
jury trial would be required under the sixth amendment. 5 ' In
Muniz, the ten thousand dollar fine imposed upon a labor union
adjudged guilty of criminal contempt was considered by the court
to be a petty rather than serious sanction. 5' According to the Muniz
majority, precedent supported the view that an offender is entitled
to a jury trial only if the offense was serious. 5 ' In distinguishing
serious and petty offenses, the Muniz court stated that the mere
imposition of a ten thousand dollar fine was an insufficient depriva-
tion of liberty to impose a jury trial requirement.'53 Under this pre-
cedent, the Atlas six hundred dollar penalty, absent an additional
penalty of imprisonment, would not be sufficiently severe to require
a jury trial even if the OSHA enforcement scheme was determined
to be a criminal proceeding. Moreover it would appear that the sixth
amendment jury trial right would be inapplicable to any OSHA
penalty assessment because the maximum monetary sanction pro-
vided under the Act is ten thousand dollars. 5'

whether it historically has been regarded as a punishment, whether it comes into play only
on a finding of scienter, whether its operation will promote the traditional aims of punish-
ment-retribution and deterrence, whether the behavior to which it applies is already a
crime, whether there is an assignable alternative purpose to which it rationally may be
connected, and whether it appears excessive in relation to the alternative purpose assigned.
See also, Trop v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 96 (1958) in which the Supreme Court held that a
statute may be considered nonpenal if the sanction is imposed not to punish but to achieve
another legitimate government purpose,

148. 518 F.2d at 1011.
149. 422 U.S. 454 (1975).
150. 45 U.S.L.W. at 4317 n.15.
151. 422 U.S. at 476-77.
152. Id. at 475.
In a vigorous dissent, however, Justice Douglas declared that a Supreme Court assess-

ment of the pettiness or substantiality of an offense is irrelevant under the language of the
sixth amendment. Thereunder, the criminally accused are entitled to a jury trial in "all"
criminal prosecutions. 422 U.S. at 480-81 (dissenting opinion).

153. 422 U.S. at 477.
154. Any employee adjudged guilty of an initial willful violation of an OSHA standard

or rule which causes the death of an employee shall be punished by a fine of no more than
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3. Fifth Amendment Challenge

The OSHA enforcement scheme was also attacked by the em-
ployer in Atlas on the ground that it violated the fifth amendment.
Atlas raised two objections based on the fifth amendment: first, that
due process required an opportunity for a hearing prior to the Secre-
tary's assessment of a penalty;15 and second that the overall penalty
structure of OSHA violated due process by chilling the employer's
right to seek review of the citation penalty.5 6

Atlas' first objection was based on the provision of the Act that
allowed the Secretary's citation and penalty to become a final order
absent the employer's challenge. According to Atlas, placing upon
the employer the burden to secure a hearing after the penalty has
been assessed violated due process under the fifth amendment. 57

The Atlas court rejected this claim, however, on the ground that an
employer suffers no substantial disability or detriment prior to the
availability of a hearing under section 659(c).158 Administrative law
cases which require pre-review hearings were distinguished by the
Fifth Circuit from the facts in Atlas on the ground that the ag-
grieved persons suffered adverse effects prior to the opportunity for
a meaningful hearing. 59 Under OSHA, however, the penalty was
imposed only after the employer was offered an opportunity to be
heard." 0

Atlas next urged that the OSHA penalty structure violated due
process on two grounds. First, under sections 666(i) and 659(b), the
Commission is authorized to retroactively assess additional nona-

$10,000 or imprisonment for no more than six months, or both. 29 U.S.C. § 666(e) (1970).
The sixth amendment issue would not be resolved by the Supreme Court's dictum in Atlas,
however, if the employer was convicted for a second willful violation whereunder the possible
fine and imprisonment terms are increased to $20,000 and one year respectively. Id. Further-
more, under section 659(b), the Secretary is authorized under specified circumstances to
assess an additional retroactive non-abatement penalty which conceivably could cause an
employer to be penalized for more than $10,000. 29 U.S.C. § 659(b) (1970).

155. 518 F.2d 990, 1012 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975), aff'd, 45 U.S.L.W. 4312 (March 22, 1977).
156. Id.
157. Id.
158. This holding was subsequently followed by the Fifth Circuit in Dan J. Sheehan

Co. v. OSAHRC, 520 F.2d 1036 (5th Cir. Oct., 1975), cert. denied, 424 U.S. 965 (1976).
159. See Bell v. Burson, 402 U.S. 535 (1971), in which a hearing was constitutionally

required before suspension of a driver's license; Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254 (1973) where
a pre-termination hearing was constitutionally required before cutting off welfare benefits;
Sniadach v. Family Finance Corp., 395 U.S. 337 (1969) in which a hearing was constitution-
ally required prior to garnishment of wages.

160. 518 F.2d 990, 1012 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975), aff'd, 45 U.S.L.W. 4312 (March 22, 1977).
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batement penalties if the Commission determines that the employer
did not in good faith initiate review procedures.'"' Atlas contended
that these sections enabled the Commission to punish employers
who exercised their right to review.'62 An additional disability al-
leged by Atlas to violate due process was the provision in section
666(d) for the daily cumulation of penalties for each nonabated
violation for the duration of the lengthy appeal period.' 3 Atlas
argued that these provisions of OSHA placed a chill on the em-
ployer's willingness to seek review. The court avoided a due process
determination of the alleged "chill" upon an employer's right to
seek review by holding that Atlas lacked standing to contest the
provisions."4 Based on the record, the Fifth Circuit asserted that the
Secretary would have been unable to prove any charges of a bad
faith appeal.' 5 Furthermore, Atlas had petitioned for and was
granted a stay of the proposed six hundred dollar penalty by the
Commission under section 660(a).16 The "chilling effect" argument
was successfully raised as an issue of first impression before the
Fifth Circuit in Dan J Sheehan Co. v. OSAHRC.'"7 As a basis for
determining whether the threat of increased penalties after em-
ployer initiated review violated an employer's due process rights,
the Sheehan court examined the potential for Commission vindic-
tiveness and the extent of the employer's apprehension of that retal-
iation under the present system.' 6 The Sheehan court found that

161. To prevent a citation penalty from self-execution under the expedited OSHA
enforcement system, the employer must contest the order within fifteen days. The initiation
of review without a formal stay of nonabatement penalties, however, does not prevent a later
penalty assessment by the Commission. 29 U.S.C. § 659(a) (1970). See also E.J. Worcester
Pressed Steel Co. v. OSAHRC, 20 OSAHRC 737 (1975); Clarkson Constr. Co. v. OSAHRC,
531 F.2d 451 (10th Cir. 1976).

162. 518 F.2d 990, 1012-13 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975), aff'd, 45 U.S.L.W. 4312 (March 22,
1977).

163. Id.
164. Id. at 1012. In a subsequent survey case, the Fifth Circuit again ruled that the

employer lacked standing to challenge OSHA's penalty structure. Lake Butler Apparel Co.
v. Secretary, 519 F.2d 84 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975). Unlike the complete stay of penalties in Atlas,
however, the Commission's stay of penalties in Lake Butler applied only to the penalties
assessed prior to review. Although there was a possibility that the employer in Lake Butler
could be assessed retroactive nonabatement penalties, the Fifth Circuit found this likelihood
remote, thereby determining that the fifth amendment issues were not ripe for appeal. Id.

165. Atlas Roofing Co. v. OSAHRC, 518 F.2d 990, 1013 (5th Cir. Sept., 1975), aff'd, 45
U.S.L.W. 4312 (March 22, 1977).

166. Id. at 993.
167. Dan J. Sheehan Co. v. OSAHRC, 520 F.2d 1036, 1039-40 (5th Cir. Oct., 1975), cert.

denied, 424 U.S. 965 (1976).
168. Id. at 1040-41. The necessity of testing for vindictiveness was based on a Supreme
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the OSHA enforcement scheme did not "chill" the employer's op-
portunity to review the citation and penalty.' The court was per-
suaded by the opportunity under the Act for an employer to obtain
judicial review of an increased penalty. 0 Applying the "abuse of
discretion" standard of review, the court of appeals may determine
whether the penalty increase was proper under the section 666(i)
penalty adjustment standards.' Evidence of vindictiveness in rais-
ing the amount of the penalty would be considered as an abuse of
Commission discretion, thereby enabling the court of appeals to
readjust the penalty. 72 The court stated that such corrective action
substantially neutralized the possible chill on the employer's right
to review.

Karen Patrice Tandy

Court ruling that a mere post-review penalty increase is not "per se" unconstitutional. Colten
v. Kentucky, 407 U.S. 104 (1972).

169. 520 F.2d 1036, 1040 (5th Cir. Oct., 1975).
170. 29 U.S.C. § 660(a) permits any employer aggrieved by a Commission order to

petition the Court of Appeals for review.
171. Dan J. Sheehan Co. v. OSAHRC, 520 F.2d 1036, 1041 (5th Cir. Oct., 1975), cert.

denied, 424 U.S. 965 (1976); See 29 U.S.C. § 666(i) (1970).
172. Id. 520 F.2d at 1042.
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